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INTRODUCTION

1. On the 27th of February 2008 the Respondent, the Minister of Health, dismissed all the members of the Board of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board and replaced the Board with a Commissioner pursuant to section 31 of the New Zealand Public Health & Disability Act 2000 (“NZPHDA”) on the grounds that he was seriously dissatisfied with the performance of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  

2. The Respondent subsequently described the Board as:

“…a nasty little nest of self-perpetuating, provincial elites who have been propping each other up, and, either through ignorance or malpractice, slipping each other cosy contracts without proper governance protections and doing it time and time again….”

3. This comment was widely publicised and reported.  The Respondent has carefully refrained from repeating the statement outside of the protection of parliamentary privilege.

4. From the outset it is stated that, with the exception of the request for proposal for community services for which a company associated with Ministerial appointment to the Board, Peter Hausmann was the preferred proposer, (and which was subsequently cancelled on legal advice), no member of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board has ever been awarded a contract by the Board of the HBDHB.    In fact, the only other contracts ever considered by the Board were the Annual Provider Arm contract, and the community laboratory services contract.  All other contracts including the contract referred to in the Affidavit of Penelope Jane Andrews was negotiated and approved under the Chief Executive’s delegated authority.

5. Perusal of the affidavits filed in support of this application from the respective Board members from the 2004 Board and the 2007 Board speak volumes.  The Hawke’s Bay District Health Board can only be described as having an outstanding balance of business acumen, clinical and health service experience, community representation, representation of Maori and representation of your average person.

6. If these Board members are elite then it is because they have dedicated and committed their time to the often thankless job of serving on a district health board.

7. And that service had been exceptional.  Under the stewardship of the members of the District Health Board, health services in Hawke’s Bay have been guided through difficult times of serious under-funding in the initial years, communities with deep seated division as to where hospitals should be located, communities with significant health issues and the provision of health services over a wide and disparate geographical region from Waikaremoana north of Wairoa in the north, the rugged central North Island ranges in the west,  Mangaorapa in Central Hawke’s Bay in the south and the Chatham Islands in the east.

8. Despite these difficulties and obstacles, The former Minister of Health, the honourable Pete Hodgson by letter of 9 July 2007, commended the Board for its efforts in difficult times.  He said:

“I am pleased to advise that I have signed Hawke’s Bay District Health Board’s 2007/08 District Plan (DAP) for three years, and that the Board has my full support in implementing this Plan.  
This year your Board and management have put tremendous effort into successfully managing what was a challenging 2006/07 Plan.  I can see from your 2007/08 Plan that you intend to continue this effort.  I am really appreciative of this. 

Health Targets

The introduction of the new health targets was designed to improve and increase focus on my continuing priorities.  They provide the sector with a solid platform for measurable progress in the coming year.  I am delighted with the emphasis that your Board plans to give to these priorities.  I look forward to receiving updates from you as the year progresses.

…

Keep up the good work on establishing the cancer control regional networks.  The work you are doing on cancer services is so important because it impacts on the lives of so many New Zealanders.  The manner in which HBDHB has developed the value for money diabetes case study is particularly noteworthy.  I am aware that this work has been cited as a model for other DHBS.

I am pleased to note that HBDHB has put ESPI “buffers” in place that will assist in ensuring that your ESPI compliance is maintained and that your commitment to additional volumes is achieved.

Achievement of increased elective volumes could be a tangible demonstration of productivity gains and a contribution to value for money strategies.

Your plans to advance the implementation of the health of older people strategy shows a strong commitment to this age group in your community.  I am very pleased to see the work you plan on developing community based services and on supporting work force enhancements.

Financial and Risk Management

I hardly need to remind you of the need to continue to manage your services within your allocated funding.  I note the risks outlined in your DAP and the mitigation strategies you have identified have my support.  I expect robust financial performance and that you continue to keep the Ministry of Health (the Ministry) informed of emerging risks.

Monitoring Intervention Framework

I am pleased to note that HBDHB has maintained the status of standard monitoring on the monitoring and intervention framework (MIF).  This is a reflection of your ongoing positive performance and is rewarded by the benefit of receiving early payment of your funding.  I am confident that you will be working to retain your MIF status through 2007/08.

In conclusion I know that as you enter this new year you and your Board will have in front of your minds improving service quality, meeting fiscal imperatives and managing industrial challenges.  All this in the context of impending Board elections.  It is a tremendous contribution that you are making to the lives of New Zealanders.  Thank you.  Best wishes with the implementation of your 2007/08 DAP.

Could I ask that a copy of this letter is attached to the copy of your signed DAP held by the Board and to all copies of the DAP made available to the public.”

9. The members of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board had managed to operate in what was and is a challenging environment, to overcome what were often deep-seated divisions with the community and advance the provision of health services within Hawke’s Bay to the people of Hawke’s Bay.

10. If the members of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board were Hawke’s Bay’s elite, they were elite because of the performance and gains that they had made in the provision of health services in Hawke’s Bay and most of all, they were elite because they were the people in whom the community of Hawke’s Bay had placed their faith.  They were the democratically elected Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.

11. The Minister’s action is not only a challenge to the members of the District Health Board, it is a challenge to the democratic process by which the people of Hawke’s Bay have their say in relation to the provision of health services to the communities of Hawke’s Bay.  As noted in the affidavit of Neil Barry Taylor, Chief Executive of the Napier City Council, the Minister’s action in dismissing the District Health Board has been the single act that has galvanised the people of Hawke’s Bay into a united community
.  

12. These proceedings brought by the four territorial authorities of Hawke’s Bay and the Hawke’s Bay Regional Council are the result not only of communities united against the Respondent’s actions but are also a recognition of the advances that have been made by the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.

13. These proceedings are not politically motivated as has previously been argued by Counsel for the Respondent.  These proceedings are not about favouring an opposition political party, a misconception under which the Respondent (and Dr Grayson) appears to labour.   Nor are these proceedings motivated by some of the spurious rationale that have been the subject of speculation.

14. These proceedings are ultimately about democracy, and giving effect to the purpose of the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000.

15. To say that the Respondent’s actions were un-popular is an understatement.  The people of Hawke’s Bay see the Respondent’s actions as completely unwarranted and a significant in-road into the democratic process provided by the Act.  

16. The Board members of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board had only just been elected or re-elected in October 2007.  They were sworn in to office on the 10th of December 2007. Their removal by a Minister who came into office on the 5th of November 2007 and had therefore been in office for only 3.5 months is not accepted by the Hawke’s Bay Community.  Further, by taking formal leave from Parliament from 11 December 2007 to 23 January 2008
  the Respondent had effectively only been in office for a matter of weeks before dismissing the Board.  The Respondents actions show complete disregard for the democratic process and the faith placed by the community of Hawke’s Bay in the members of the District Health Board.  The fact that the Minister had never met with the District Health Board only compounds the community’s frustration and fortifies the community’s resolve.

BACKGROUND

17. The Hawke’s Bay District Health Board had a history of good performance.

18. The Minister of Health by letter of 9 July 2007
 approved the 2007/08 district annual plan and praised the Board and management for the “tremendous effort into successfully managing what was a challenging 2006/07 plan.   I can see from your 2007/08 plan that you intend to continue this effort.  I am really appreciative of this.”  Perusal of that letter shows that it is a letter  full of praise and positive statements.  There is certainly nothing that can be construed as being critical of the Board’s performance for the year ended June 2007 or the targets set by the Board for the 2007/08 year.  

19. If there is one thing with which the Board struggled, it was the difficulties involving conflicts of interest of a Ministerial appointed Board member Peter Hausmann.  A Request for Proposal process for community service had to aborted after the Board sought legal advice when it was discovered that Mr Hausmann had had prior access to the Request for Proposal documentation.  Mr Hausmann made changes to the Request for Proposal document and had thereby secured a potential advantage over other possible participants in the Request for Proposal process by having access to the detail of the request some months before the RFP being advertised.  After taking legal advice this process was aborted.

20. Further difficulties surrounding the Wellcare Education Ltd contract for training services were of concern and were the subject of adverse comment in the Audit New Zealand report for the year ended June 2007.  While the Audit Office report was highly critical of the processes adopted by management in procuring the Wellcare contract, this was a contract entered into by management under delegated authority and not one that the Board was privy to prior to it being entered into.  The fact that the Board were unaware that the contract between Wellcare and the DHB was proposed is recorded in the Audit New Zealand report.

21. At the request of the Minister of Health, a review panel was established to review conflict of interest issues arising at the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  That review was outlined in a Health Report from the Ministry to the Minister dated 13 July 2007 and records that the review was into Mr Hausmann’s past, current and potential conflicts of interest with the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board and the Board’s management of these conflicts in light of the prima facie serious nature of Mr Hausmann’s concerns.  The report also records that officials did not believe that a wider review of the Board’s and Chair’s performance in governance was required at that time.

22. After receiving the Audit New Zealand report the Board considered that an audit of email communications was required and engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers to undertake a forensic email audit.

23. Mr Clarke refers to the cause of the breakdown being the review being undertaken into conflicts of interest.  Mr Atkinson deposes that it was not until the email audit of a damaged tape became available in January 2008, it was clear that the Board would have to fully scrutinise the extent of management involvement in those contracting processes.  That was when relationships became more strained.

24. If this process is a “culture of blame” then that perception is unfortunate.  At all times the Board was acting in pursuit of its objective of upholding the ethical and quality standards commonly expected and provided of services and of public sector organisations.

25. On 12 February 2008
 the Ministry of Health changed the  monitoring status of the HBDHB in the Ministry of Health’s Monitoring and Intervention framework from “standard monitoring” to “performance watch”.  This represented a move to the second tier in the trilogy of possible monitoring levels.  While this was the first time HBDHB had had its monitoring status downgraded, it is not unprecedented in New Zealand and at the time of Hawke’s Bays change there were three other DHB’s on “performance watch” and three on the most serious tier, “intensive monitoring”
.   

26. The Ministry cited two grounds for the change in status
. The first was the financial position.  In a letter to the Respondent on 4 December 2007
 the Chairman had already raised the issue of the gap between MECA settlements and Future Funding Track allocations. He also advised that the CEO and DHB Management had already been in discussions with the Ministry and further meetings were planned.  This was not a Board that sat back and watched.

27. The second  ground was the HBDHB elective services delivery which at that time was behind plan.  The reasons for this latter issue were readily explained
 and it is notable that by February 2008, HBDHB was one of only nine DHB’s to be at or above its target for elective services delivery
.  The fact that this concern was addressed within two months demonstrates the Boards ability to grasp issues and deal with them.  

28. The Board actually welcomed the change in monitoring status as it meant the Ministry would provide direct assistance and support to management on a regular basis.  Monthly meetings were to be held. No such meeting was able to be held prior to the Respondents decision on 27 February 2008.

29. By letter dated 20 February 2008 the Respondent gave notice to the Board that he was seriously dissatisfied with the performance of the Board and that he was considering appointing a commissioner under section 31(1) of the New Zealand Public Health & Disability Act 2000
.  At no time prior to the Respondent’s letter of 20 February 2008 had the Minister expressed any dissatisfaction or concern with the performance of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  

30. The Respondent cited four grounds for his serious dissatisfaction with the performance of the Board
.

31. Absent from the Respondent’s reasoning was any reference to the key accountability documents for district health boards under the NZPHDA and Crown Entities Acts.   

32. The District Annual Plan had been agreed and signed off by the Minister and the Board’s performance endorsed in what can only be described as glowing terms.

33. The most recent annual report for the year ended June 2007 included a report on the performance of the hospital and related services which shows that on nine out of the twelve performance indicators, the desired outcomes were fully achieved with the remaining three being partially achieved.  Analysis of the areas of partial achievement such as Child and Youth Oral Health
, Teenage Pregnancy
 and Primary Care Utilisation
 show only minor unfavourable variances to those sought as part of the District Annual Plan and/or Statement of Intent.  

34. The progress on achieving District Annual Plan and Statement of Intent targets was regularly reported to the Board by way of a quarterly management report.  The report on the Statement of Intent for quarter 2 of the 2007/08 year was dated February 2008 and showed that on all criteria, 64% had been fully achieved, 32% had been partially achieved and that it was anticipated that all criteria would be achieved by the end of the year.

35. Documents such as the 2008 Caseload Monitoring Report prepared by the Ministry of Health
 identified the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board was one of only nine DHBs to receive a “green light” for delivery of surgical services at or greater than the agreed levels.  This measure of performance against objective comparisons demonstrates that there was no issue with the performance of the District Health Board in terms of meeting the performance criteria and objectives of a DHB under the NZPHDA.  This of course is consistent with the fact that at no time had the Respondent raised any concerns about the performance of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  The only concern the Ministry had was financial performance and that was being addressed.

THE STATUTORY BACKGROUND

36. District Health Boards were established pursuant to section 19 of the NZPHDA.  

37. The Hawke’s Bay District Health Board geographical region goes from the Te Urewera National Park including Waikaremoana in the north,  the central North Island ranges in the west, Mangaorapa in the south and the Chatham Islands in the east.  It is a wide geographical area and the demographics in terms of health are one of the most challenging, if not the most challenging, in New Zealand.

38. The purpose of the NZPHDA is set out in section 3 of the Act.  That purpose includes the establishment of the newly publicly owned health and disability organisations including DHBs in order to pursue objectives including:

“… 

(c)
To provide a community voice in matters relating to personal health services, public health services and disability support services –

(i)
by providing for elected board members of DHBs;

(ii)
by providing for board meetings and certain committee meetings to be open to the public;

(iii)
by providing for consultation on strategic planning.

(d)
To facilitate access to, and the dissemination of information to deliver, appropriate, effective, and timely health services, public health services and programmes, both for the protection and the promotion of public health, and disability support services.”

39. The importance of having elected DHB boards is reinforced by section 5(3).  Section 5 provides for the reorganisation of the public health sector and section 5(3) restates that boards would include members elected by the community and representation of Maori.
  Section 5(3)(e) provides for the accountability of DHBs including accountability through annual plans agreed with the Minister of Health and statements of intent.

40. The importance of these accountability documents cannot be overstated.

41. District Health Boards have the objectives set out in section 22 of the Act and the functions set out in section 23.  It is the Plaintiff’s submission that the performance of a DHB must be considered against the extent to which it has pursued the objectives and undertaking the functions stipulated by the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act.

42. The role of the board of a DHB is defined by section 26 which refers to section 25 of the Crown Entities Act 2004.  The board of a DHB is the governing body of the DHB with the authority to exercise all the powers and perform all the functions of the DHB.  All decisions are required to be made by or under the authority of the Board in accordance with the Crown Entities Act or the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act.

43. Section 26(3) of the NZPHDA requires a district health board to delegate to the Chief Executive the power to make decisions on management matters but any such delegation may be made on such terms and conditions as the Board thinks fit.

44. Pursuant to clause 44 of the Third Schedule to the NZPHDA the board of a DHB employs a chief executive on such terms as may be agreed provided those terms are consented to by the State Services Commissioner.
   The chief executive in turn has responsibility for all decisions on all employees.

45. Section 29 provides that each Board consists of seven elected members and up to four members appointed by the Minister of Health pursuant to section 28(1)(a) of the Crown Entities Act 2004.

46. In addition, the Minister has the power pursuant to section 30 to appoint one or more persons as Crown Monitors for the purpose of assisting and improving performance of a DHB.

47. Individual appointed members of a Board may be removed from office in accordance with section 36 of the Crown Entities Act 2004.  In contrast with the absolute discretion provided for the removal of an appointed member, a Minister may remove an individual elected member only after consulting the member and the Board about the removal and only for a reason stated in clause 9 of the Third Schedule.  Those reasons include the subsequent disqualification of an elected member for one of the reasons set out in section 30(2) of the Crown Entities Act, failure to disclose an interest on being nominated as a candidate for election, neglect or failure to perform the board members’ duties under the Act, absence from meetings or breach of any of the obligations of a board member.

48. None of the reasons for removal of individual elected board members set out in clause 9 of the Third Schedule apply to the elected members of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  

49. Pursuant to section 31 of the NZPHDA the Minister of Health may, if he is seriously dissatisfied with the performance of a Board of a DHB, by written notice dismiss all of the members of a Board and replace the Board with a Commissioner.  This is the statutory power under which the Respondent purportedly acted to dismiss the Board of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.

50. District Health Boards are crown entities to which the Crown Entities Act applies and section 21 of the NZPHDA provides that except as provided in section 21(3) the Crown Entities Act applies to district health boards, their boards, board members and committee members or employees.

For current purposes, it is submitted that the following provisions of the Crown Entities Act are of particular relevance.

51. Sections 38 and 39 set out the requirements for each DHB to have a strategic plan for the fulfilling of its objectives and functions during a five to ten year period.  The Hawke’s Bay District Health Board had such a strategic plan which had been approved by the Minister as required by section 38(3)(c).

52. Section 39 relates to the requirement for district annual plans which again must be agreed and signed by the Minister.

53. Section 40 of the NZPHDA requires consultation with the resident population of a district health board area and section 41 requires every DHB to operate in a financially responsible manner and for that purpose, must endeavour to cover all its annual costs (including the costs of capital) from its net annual income.

54. Section 42 in turn provides for the various accountability documentation,  namely the statement of intent, annual financial statements and annual reports.  Every annual report is required to contain a report on the extent to which a district health board has met its objectives under section 22 of the Act.

The Crown Entities Act 2004
55. The Board’s role pursuant to section 25 has already been referred to.  In addition, section 26 of the Crown Entities Act requires members to comply with the board’s collective duties.  In section 49 to 52 of the Crown Entities Act, the members individual duties as members in accordance with sections 53 to 57 and any directions applicable to the entity which for current purposes, there are none.

56. Pursuant to section 26(2) a board member is accountable to the Minister of Health for performing their duties as members.

57. Pursuant to section 27 of the Crown Entities Act, it is the Respondent’s role to manage and oversee the Crown’s interest in and relationship with a DHB and to exercise any statutory responsibilities such as, relevantly for current purposes, in relation to the removal of members under sub-part 2 of the Crown Entities Act.

58. Section 21 of the NZPHDA specifically provides that section 38 of the Crown Entities Act relating to removal of elected members of Crown agents does not apply to district health boards.  Notwithstanding this, section 41 of the Crown Entities Act related to the process for removal is not so exempted with the result that any removal of a member Pursuant to the NZPHDA must observe the principles of natural justice and include a proper consideration of the matter. 

59. Sections 49 to 51 provide for collective duties of a board of a crown entity.  Section 49 requires a board to ensure that the entity acts in a manner consistent with its objectives, functions, current statement of intent and output agreement (if any).  

60. Section 50 imposes on the board the need to ensure that the statutory entity performs its functions efficiently and effectively and in a manner consistent with the spirit of service to the public.  

61. Section 51 requires the board to operate in a financially responsible manner and for that purpose to prudently manage its assets and liabilities and endeavour to ensure its long term financial viability and endeavour to ensure that it acts as a successful going concern.

62. Sections 53 to 57 set out individual members duties and sections 58 and 59 of the Crown Entities Act specify the effect of non-compliance with collective board duties and individual members duties respectively.  

63. The power under section 31 of the NZPHDA is not unfettered.  It must be read in conjunction with the relevant sections of the Crown Entities Act.   The discretion to dismiss a board on the basis of being seriously dissatisfied with the performance of the board as required by section 31, must be viewed in light of the provisions of section 58(1) of the Crown Entities Act, the collective duties of a board under sections 49 to 51 of the Crown Entities Act and the accountability processes under the NZPHDA and Crown Entities Acts.

64. Section 31 requires an assessment of “the performance of the Board”.  That in turn requires consideration of objective criteria and accountability mechanisms under the Act.  It is not sufficient for the Minister to be concerned or annoyed about the alleged behaviour of the Board or any of its members.  To interpret section 31 in this way would be to place a lower threshold on dismissing an entire Board than the threshold for dismissing an individual elected member. 

UNREASONABLENESS

65. There is no suggestion that the 2004 Board had not, perhaps with the exception of Mr Hausmann, diligently performed the role and duties of a district health board under the NZPHDA and pursued the objectives and functions of a DHB as stipulated by sections 22 and 23 of the District Health Board.  The most recent annual report for the year ended June 2007 demonstrated good progress towards achieving the objectives of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  This was reflected in the letter from the Minister dated 9 July 2007.  

66. Similarly, to the extent possible in the period from the time that the Board elected in October 2007 was sworn in on the 10th of December 2007 until it was dismissed on the 27th of February 2008, the 2007 Board had diligently performed the duties of a district health board and pursued the objectives and functions of a district health board under the NZPHDA.  

67. The Report on Progress for the year to December 2007 demonstrates that the Board was well advanced in achieving the requirements of its Statement of Intent against key performance indicators for 2007/08, that 64% of all outcomes had been achieved by the mid-year period and that the expectation was that a 100% would be achieved by the end of the year.  The Statement of Intent and District Annual Plan are key accountability documents in terms of both the NZPHDA and the Crown Entities Act, the Board’s performance against its objectives and accountability measures cannot be faulted.

68. Similarly, the performance of both the pre-October 2007 and post-October 2007 Board in terms of the Ministry of Health Case Load Monitoring Report showed that the performance of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board was exceeding the rates expected by and agreed with the Ministry.

69. History also supports these submissions.   The Hawke’s Bay District Health Board has, since 2006, performed well in terms of the objective performance criteria examined by the Ministry of Health and reported by the Ministry in the DHB Hospital Benchmark Information prepared by the Ministry.

70. All of these reports and all of their supporting analysis present an objective view of the performance of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  None of these reports are referred to by the Minister.

71. Instead, the Minister implies that the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board was not providing a first class health service and that his actions were necessary in order to get the focus back onto providing a first class health service to the people of Hawke’s Bay.
  Objective measurement shows that the performance of the Board had never strayed from providing a first class health care service.

72. The District Annual Plan is one of the key accountability documents for a district health board.  It is a requirement for each financial year and must be agreed to and signed by the Minister.  In terms of accountability, it is one of the measures against which the performance of a district health board is measured progressively throughout the year and at the end of the year.

73. For the year ended June 2007, the Minister of Health was full of praise for the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  He expressed his appreciation for the tremendous effort the Board had put into successfully managing what was a challenging 2006/07 plan and referred to the fact that the 2007/08 plan showed an intention to continue with that effort.  The Minister specifically noted the value for money diabetes case study undertaken by the HBDHB and the fact that this work was being cited as a model for other DHBs.  It refers to the fact that, at the end of the year ended June 2007, the HBDHB had maintained its standard monitoring status and that this was “… a reflection of your ongoing positive performance and is rewarded by the benefit of receiving early payment of your funding …”.
74. Specifically, the Minister stated:

“I note the risks outlined in your DAP and the mitigation strategies you have identified have my support.  I expect robust financial performance and that you continue to keep the Ministry of Health (the Ministry) informed of emerging risks.”
75. In making that statement the Minister was referring to the risks and assumptions identified in the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board District Annual Plan 07/08.  Key assumptions under-pinning the District Annual Plan were that the increase in personnel costs would be inline with future funding track income increases and it was noted that there were serious cost control risks with this assumption.
  

76. Other risks and assumptions were that inflation on supplies and expenses and outsourcing of services would be kept within 2.1%.  All of these matters were risks identified in the District Annual Plan.  

77. The fact that some of those risks eventuated gave rise to a variance against budget.  The financial analysis undertaken by Mr Johnson in his advice to the Minister do not refer to these District Annual Plan assumptions and continues on a flawed basis.  It is submitted that having identified the risks associated with the budgetary assumptions, the Board has at all times been exercising prudent financial management.

78. With regard to the Board elected in October 2007, while five of the Board elected in October and sworn in in December were previously members of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board, that Board had only one meeting on the 13th of February 2008.   How the actions of Dr David Barry and Helen Francis as newly elected Board members can be impugned is difficult to understand.

IRRELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS

79. The Chief Executive is the only employee directly engaged by a district health board.  All other employees are employed by the Chief Executive.

80. That there were tensions in the employment relationship with the Chief Executive is acknowledged by the Board however it was actively working on addressing those employment relationships.

81. The tensions arose from serious concerns about the trust that the Board could place in the Chief Executive given that the Chief Executive and other senior managers had been under scrutiny for their roles in relation to a Community Service Request for Proposal and Wellcare contracts, both of which involved scrutinising the Chief Executive’s actions.  The Request for Proposal for Community Services was terminated by the Board having taken legal advice about the conflicts of interest of Mr Peter Hausmann.  

82. The second contract, the Wellcare contract was considered by Audit New Zealand as part of the audit of the financial statements for the year ended June 2007.  

It is acknowledged by the Respondent
 that he did take into account the employment relationship that the Board had with the Chief Executive.  The Chief Executive is an employee of the DHB and the Minister has no functions or powers in respect of that Chief Executive.  Essentially, the Minister has, without reference to the Board, waded-in to an employment situation that was the sole prerogative of the Board to manage.  The Board had for some time attempted to address issues with the Chief Executive and had sought experienced Counsel to assist it.  That that process gives rise to tensions in the employment relationship is probably inevitable.  That does not mean that the relationship is dysfunctional.

83. The relationship that the Board had with its employee and, for that matter, the relationship that the Chief Executive had with his employees at the DHB is not a relevant consideration for the Minister in exercising his power under section 31 of the NZPHDA.  

84. The Respondent also deposes to the fact that he did take into account the views of Doctors Grayson and Tustin.
  The Respondent acknowledges that not all clinicians shared the views of Dr Grayson however the Respondent made absolutely no attempt to speak to any of the clinicians, including clinician Board members, who were expressing views contrary to those of Dr Grayson.  The relevance of Dr Grayson’s views which clearly played a significant role in the Minister’s decision, must be considered in light of the evidence of the Chair of the Senior Medical Staff which comprises all senior medical specialists and clinicians engaged by the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board numbering some 120 personnel.
  Nor did the Respondent apparently consider the views of Dr Paddy Twigg
 or Dr Peter Foley, Chair of the New Zealand Medical Association and Hawke’s Bay GP who expressed the view that: 

“The clinicians and people of Hawke’s Bay would consider it a very ill advised decision by the Minister to remove the current District Health Board of Hawke’s Bay and I would be surprised that a Minister would consider evicting a Board without actually coming to meet them and the Chairman prior to making such a serious decision.”

85. If the views of clinicians are to be canvassed, then in order for those views to be relevant, the basis on which those views are canvassed must be impartial and consistent, not a partisan approach such as that undertaken by the Respondent.

86. As has already been discussed, the Respondent has also failed to take into account relevant considerations such as the objective measures of Board performance and has failed to consider the impact of the fact that the actions of Mr Hausmann and the Chief Executive were under scrutiny by the Board.

BIAS AND PREDETERMINATION

87. The Respondent in making the decision to dismiss the Board of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board demonstrated bias and/or predetermination.  That this is the case is established by the Minister’s letter of 20 February 2008.
  In that letter the Respondent states:

“I have become seriously dissatisfied with the performance of the Board of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.”
88. The use of the term “seriously dissatisfied with the performance of the Board” is fundamental to the power being exercised under section 31.  That he had already decided that he was seriously dissatisfied with the performance of the Board of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board at a time before any issue had been raised by the Minister with the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board, before any issue had been put to the Board and before any opportunity had been given to the Board to comment, demonstrates that the threshold, at least as far as the Respondent was concerned, had already been surpassed and it didn’t really matter what the Board said.  Any representations made thereafter were a plea in mitigation.

89. Closer examination of the documents at the relevant time reinforce this submission as follows.

90. At Exhibits JJ and KK to the affidavit of Kevin Atkinson are documents released by the Ministry under the Official Information Act.  These documents refer to the appointment of Sir John Anderson and Brian Roche as Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner respectively.  The documents also make reference to action being required by 12 December 2007
 and gazetting the appointments by 13 November 2007
.

91. The Respondent in the Affidavit of Bruce Ronald Anderson
 attempts to explain that these documents were drafts based on earlier Capital & Coast DHB appointments which were being adapted for the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  According to Mr Anderson, the references to November and December 2007 in the drafts were as a result of the fact that he was working on those documents and had not yet altered the relevant dates.
  With the greatest of respect to Mr Anderson, while this explanation may explain the November and December dates in Exhibit KK, his explanation does not explain the contents of Exhibit JJ to the Affidavit of Kevin Atkinson.

92. On perusal, Exhibit JJ is far more explicit and damming for the Respondent than Mr Andersons explanation would admit.  The document, acknowledged as being prepared by Mr Anderson, Manager of Governance at the Ministry of Health, contains specific references that only relate to the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  If a previous document was used as a precedent then it had been specifically and deliberately changed to reflect the Minister’s intentions with the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  

93. The document refers to the earlier appointments of most chairs and members to other DHBs on the 5th of December 2007 and to the Gazette Notice advising of these appointments and reappointments issued on the 6th of December.  

94. The document refers to advice from the Minister of the desire to consider the proposed appointments to the remaining vacancies at 10 district health boards at the Cabinet Policy Committee meeting on the 13th of February 2008.  There is specific reference to those appointments including the appointments at the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.

95. The document then goes on to state:

“Based on your advice to officials, a memorandum to POL (and associated documents) has been prepared and is attached an Appendix B.  The proposed appointments to Hawke’s Bay District Health Board are listed below:
Position
Candidate
Declaration Received (Yes/No)

Commissioner
Sir John Anderson
Yes

Deputy Commissioner
Brian Roche
Yes

Declaration forms for the proposed appointees who have completed the due diligence process are attached as Appendix C.

Once your intentions – as described in the POL paper – have been noted by Cabinet Policy Committee, officials will supply draft appointment letters and a draft Gazette Notice.  These will need to be signed and sent/returned promptly so that appointees can take office on the proposed commencement date of Thursday 14 February (which is the Gazette publication date).”

96. Later the document refers to the signed and attached draft memorandum to the Cabinet Policy Committee being considered at the Cabinet meeting on 20 February 2008.

97. If that was a draft document then it is a draft document that clearly states what the Minister’s advice to officials in respect of Hawke’s Bay District Health Board was.  It states the Ministers intention to appoint a Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner to the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board, who the Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner were to be, the fact that declarations had already been prepared and received, the fact that the matter was to be considered on the 13th of February with the commencement of the Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner on 14 February 2008.  All of this was a week before any issue was even raised with the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.

98. When read in light of that document, the Memorandum for Cabinet at Exhibit KK, albeit a draft, provides further evidence of both bias and predetermination.  Again, Mr Anderson refers to this document as being a draft based on earlier appointments at Capital & Coast District Health Board and there are excerpts in the document that demonstrate that this may have been the case.

99. There are however specific amendments to whatever precedent was being used that apply and refer specifically to the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  The opening paragraph states:

“This memorandum asks Cabinet to note that I intend to appoint Sir John Anderson as a Commissioner and Mr Brian Roche as Deputy Commissioner to the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.”
100. When read in light of these expressed intentions, Mr Atkinson’s concerns arising from the Minister’s letter to Mr Hausmann of 13 February 2008
 are confirmed.  That letter, date stamped 13 February 2008, stated in response to Mr Hausmann’s request for leave of absence from the Board that: 

“As you will be aware, events have now overtaken your letter.”
101. In what would appear to be an attempted rear guard action, the subsequent advice from the Ministry dated 19 February 2008
  was provided to the Minister just prior to the consideration of the matter at the Cabinet Policy Committee meeting on the 20th of February 2008.  That advice, headed “Replacement of the Board of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board with a Commissioner” again demonstrates the bias towards that action.  

Further evidence of bias and predetermination is provided by the Minister’s Exhibit DC16 where he, in apparent amendment to the documents prepared by the Ministry
 restates his position that he was seriously dissatisfied with the performance of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  This was the position stated to the Cabinet meeting on the 20th of February 2008.

102. Finally, Barbara Arnott and Lawrence Yule, the Mayors of Napier and Hastings respectively, depose to the fact that in the conversation they had with the Respondent, they were left in no doubt of the Respondent’s intention to dismiss the Board.

NATURAL JUSTICE

103. It is accepted by the Respondent that in making any decision pursuant to section 31, the Respondent had an obligation to act in accordance with the principles of natural justice.
  Further, section 41 of the Crown Entities Act required the Respondent to observe the principles of natural justice.

104. Fundamental to natural justice is the requirement of a decision maker to act in good faith and fairly listen to both sides.  The Respondent has breached this obligation.  Prior to any issue even being raised with the Board, the Respondent had already determined that he was seriously dissatisfied with the performance of the Board and he stated this in his letter of 20 February 2008. 

105. It is also apparent from the documentation released by the Ministry that he was seriously dissatisfied and intended replacing the Board at some time before 13 February 2008.

106. Further, it is a fundamental principle of the rules of natural justice that prior to any adverse conclusions or findings being made against people, they should have notice of what is said against them and be given an opportunity to reply.
  

107. In this instance, the Board, upon receipt of the Minister’s letter of 20 February 2008 immediately sought clarification of what was meant by the Minister in his letter.  While the Respondent replied by letter dated 22 February 2008
, that response did not provide clarification of the matters on which clarification was sought.

108. The Board should have been given notice of what was being said against them.  This did not occur.  Examples are as follows.

Financial Analysis 

109.  The Board was not given notice of the financial analysis undertaken by Mr Johnson
 despite that analysis being undertaken on the 1st of February 2008.  As noted in the second affidavit of Kevin Atkinson, that analysis included the caveat that there may be explanations from the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board that would alter the analysis undertaken by Mr Johnson.  Explanations of the matters raised by Mr Johnson were not sought by Mr Johnson or the Respondent.

110. Mr Johnson’s analysis proceeded on a fundamentally flawed basis, namely, that the effects of the multi-employer collective agreements would only be reflected in the forecast deficit for the year end, not the actual position after six months.  The reality was that the Hawke’s Bay DHB, in an interest to have more meaningful accounts, was accruing the effects of proposed settlements on a month-by-month basis.  This difficulty in the analysis by Mr Johnson flows through to the advice given by him to the Respondent on the 27th of February.

111. Other explanations would have been forthcoming such as the effects of the travel component of the population based funding formula.  Again, these issues were not specifically referred to the Board.

Complaints

112. It is now apparent that the Board and in particular the Chairman of the HBDHB had, since December 2006
 been the subject of a prolonged campaign of attacks and complaints from Peter Hausmann.  Those attacks and complaints were never referred to the Board or the Chairman for comment or rebuttal.  Mr Hausmann’s attacks must be viewed in the light of a Board member whose actions were under scrutiny and had been the subject of strong adverse comment in the Audit New Zealand audit for the year ended June 2007.

113. The respondent claims not to have given Mr Hausmann’s views any weight where they differed from those of the rest of the Board
 and alternatively to have viewed them with caution
.  The claims were however never referred to the Board or the Chairman.  Had they been, they could have been easily refuted.

114. Mr Hausmann made a series of allegations aimed at the removal of the Chair and/or the Board.  Further, Mr Hausmann, with the apparent acquiescence of the then Minister, was suggesting tactics to delay the announcement of changes in ministerial appointees until after nominations for the elections had closed so as to avoid the possibility of the then appointed members standing for election (such as the Chairman) when they were not given ministerial appointment.  

115. This suggestion, far from being the subject of rebuke from the Minister, was the subject of a letter from the Minister of Health’s private secretary expressing the Minister’s thanks for his letter and advising that the matters would be referred to the Ministry of Health.
 The Ministry who would ultimately advise the Respondent never referred this correspondence to the Board.

116. Correspondence continued throughout 2007 and January/February 2008.  None of the issues raised by Mr Hausmann or the allegations made by him were ever referred to the Board.  That Mr Hausmann was close to the Ministry and the Minister is evidenced by the fact that he was a ministerial appointee, and that the letters he wrote to the Minister making those allegations were inevitably acknowledged and replied to on behalf of the Minister and sometimes both on behalf of the Minister and by the Minister personally.  This is in stark contrast to the very belated response by the Respondent to the Board’s correspondence of 19 September 2007
 and 4 December 2007
.

 The Minister’s attempt to overcome this clear breach of natural justice by stating that “Given the stark differences between Mr Hausmann’s submissions and that of the rest of the Board, I decided that I could not give any weight to Mr Hausmann’s views where they differed from those of the rest of the Board” is difficult to reconcile with the correspondence that was flowing between Mr Hausmann and the Minister.  Further, such a position is immediately contradicted in the very next paragraph where the Minister states “I form no view as who was right and who was wrong as between the majority of the Board and Mr Hausmann, but both responses confirm to me that relationships between the Board and management and the Board and staff had become so badly compromised as to be beyond repair …., moreover the depth of breakdown between the Board and management was underlined by the material from the Chief Executive that was attached to Mr Hausmann’s submission.”
117. If the views being expressed by Mr Hausmann in his submission were not given any weight, then it is difficult to see how the difference between the Board and Mr Hausmann’s respective submissions could confirm that relationships between the Board and management and staff were compromised.  Moreover, if they were to be taken into account, even to the limited extent claimed,  Mr Hausmann’s submission should have been provided to the Board prior to the Respondent’s decision being made as should the material apparently provided by the Chief Executive on which the Respondent placed considerable weight.

118. The Board’s side of the argument on those allegations and submissions has never been heard.  As noted in the second affidavit of Kevin Atkinson, those allegations could have been readily refuted.

119. That the content of Mr Hausmann’s submission was considered of some relevance by the Respondent is demonstrated by his reference to the “material from the Chief Executive that was attached to Mr Hausmann’s submission”
.  That material was never referred to the Board or the Chairman for comment or rebuttal.   The Respondent’s reliance upon Mr Hausmann’s submission is further demonstrated by his letter advising the Board
 and the Minister’s press release dated 27 February 2008.

120. The Chief Executive had for some time been struggling to maintain the trust and confidence of the Board
.  His actions were under scrutiny and the Board had for some time been taking advice from a respected Employment Lawyer on how it should address the issue
.  While the Boards trust continued to be dented by events
, it was the discovery in late January 2008 of e-mails in the forensic e-mail audit that caused the Board further concern
.  The Board again met with Michael Quigg on 24 January 2008 to discuss the result of the forensic email audit.

121. It was alleged by the Respondent that the relationship with the Chief Executive was dysfunctional.  Notwithstanding the dents in confidence, the board did not think so and sought clarification of what the Respondent meant.
  No clarification was provided.  

122. While he now claims otherwise, it is apparent that the Chief Executive also did not view the relationship as dysfunctional as evidenced by his report to staff of  17 August 2007
, his letter to the Board of 13 November 2007
 or his e-mail to the Board on 4 January 2008.

123. It is quite apparent that the Chief Executive has changed his tune significantly.  In his affidavit at paragraph 8 he refers to a by-product of the hands-on style of governance was the vast quantities of Board and Advisory Committee papers that were required of management.  Mr Clarke refers to the issue of Board reporting in his letter to staff of the 17th of August 2007
 and to the fact that the voluminous reporting does not serve the Board well and that the Board was critical of the reporting.  It is apparent from that letter that Mr Clarke accepted that criticism.  It is also apparent from that paper that an external consultation, John Newland, was to be commissioned to review reporting to the Board and Advisory Committees.

124. In his affidavit John Newland deposes to his findings that there was no leadership from the Chief Executive and no control being exercised over the management.
  His finding confirmed the Board’s criticism that the Board was being loaded with reports that were essentially meaningless and not refined to the key aspects of what the Board was required to know.
  His view was that the scrutiny that the Board was giving to the performance of management was entirely justified.

125. Mr Newland further deposes to the fact that upon reporting on his observations and concerns, the Chief Executive asked that he not prepare a written report.  The reasons for that are obvious.  A written report of Mr Newland’s observations as an external consultation engaged by DHB management would not support the picture that management were attempting to paint, namely that the Board was interfering and not allowing them to get on with their job.

126. The Chief Executive’s letter of the 13th of November 2007 also does not paint a picture of dysfunction and his email of the 4th of January 2008
 is nothing but positive.  This email, written by the Chief Executive on the day that he was heading away on leave for three weeks, can only be described as positive.  In particular, Mr Clarke took no issue with the negotiated contract with Royston Hospital and described it as a “great success”.  This is in stark contrast to both his and Penny Andrews’ subsequent claims in relation to the meeting of the Audit & Finance Committee on the 19th of December 2007 and the minutes relating to that meeting.  It refers to the postponement of the governance workshop that had been arranged with Graham Nahkies.  There is nothing in that email to suggest a dysfunctional working relationship.  That email is of course prior to the receipt of the PricewaterhouseCoopers forensic email audit which was received later in January 2008.  

127. Outside of Mr Hausmann, the Minister had only received complaints and/or statements from  Dr Grayson and Dr Tustin.  These complaints were received prior to the Respondents letter of 20 February. While these statements appear to have been fundamental in the Minister reaching his decision that he was seriously dissatisfied with the performance of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board, the complaints being made against the Board were never put to the Board for comment or rebuttal.  

128. It is also apparent that there was a stated intention for the Minister to avoid meeting with the Board and/or the Chairman including the Ministry expressing the view that it is “crucial that all discussions and communications etc with the Board are kept to a minimum.”

129. The Minister also states that he considered meeting with the Board but decided against that course of action.
   

130. It is now apparent that there were further matters considered by the Minister which influenced his decision.  Matters such as the delay in the Review Panel’s report, the Board’s attempt to obtain a reasonable time to make submissions to the Review Panel on its second draft
,  the alleged urgent improvements needed in management of conflicts of interest and procurement policies,
 the Respondent’s concerns about his discussion with Mr Atkinson on the 13th of November 2007,
 the Respondent’s concern at the bringing to the Minister’s notice of the close friendship between the Chief Executive and Mr Hill from the Ministry of Health,
 none of which were referred to the Board or the Chairman as matters for concern on which they should comment to the Minister.

131. In relation to the media comment, the Respondent says that he was not impressed by the Board’s public behaviour and its use of the media as it related to the Ministry and the Government.
 This was a matter on which specific clarification was sought.
  No clarification was given and other than the misquoted comments of the Chairman, no examples were provided.  Had they been, the Board would have been able to rebut or clarify any issues.

132. Analysis of the alleged media comment now relied upon by the Respondent do not support the claim that there was a “frequent and pointed use of the media to criticise the Ministry and by implication the Government …”

133. Other concerns such as the Chair meeting with opposition MPs and the allegation that the Chair had not allowed the Chief Executive to attend that meeting could have been readily refuted had they been raised with the Board.  Similarly, the allegation that the Board had engaged a public relations firm was not only not referred to the Board but is incorrect.  

134. The claim that senior clinicians had implied that the Board was not enjoying good governance and that there were tensions within the DHB
 was never referred to the Board.  Had it been, then those allegations could have been readily refuted.
  Further, while the apparent allegations of “senior clinicians” “troubled”
 the Respondent,  these issues and views were not raised with the Board or the Chairman despite the clinicians comments apparently concerning the Minister greatly.

135. The allegations referred to in Mr Hausmann’s submissions and now contained in the affidavit of Penelope Jane Andrew such as the “doctoring” of minutes and alleged bullying tactics in relation to a meeting of the Board with senior management now form part of the Respondent’s evidence before the Court but were never referred to the Board for comment or rebuttal.  

136. Similarly, neither the Board nor Dr David Davidson were contacted by the Respondent or the Ministry expressing any concern about the views expressed by Dr Davidson on Radio New Zealand.
  Not only was this not raised with Dr Davidson who was both a clinician at the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board and a Board member, the claim that he subsequently claimed to have been misquoted is emphatically denied by Dr Davidson.

137. At paragraph 5 of his affidavit the Respondent summarises why he chose to dismiss the Board.  He states that he had lost confidence in the Board’s collective judgment.  This was never referred to or raised with the Board and nor were any examples of any failings in the Board’s collective judgment ever identified or raised with the Board.  The Respondent states that he concluded that it was beyond the capability of the Board to resolve these issues.  What the issues were and how or why the Minister believed it was beyond the Board’s capability to resolve them was never raised with the Board. 

138. It is fundamental that a Minister of the Crown is expected to give reasons for decisions affecting individuals.
   Ministerial candour is now seen as a constitutional obligation.
  Throughout the Board struggled to understand precisely what the Minister’s concerns were and sought clarification.  As in any consultation, being properly informed of the issues and allegations is necessary for effective participation in the consultation process.
  It is now apparent that keeping things general and minimising the clarification was a deliberate tactic advised to the Minister.

139. As a result, a democratically elected Board of the District Health Board, elected pursuant to an Act aimed at ensuring community participation and representation in the provision of health, was dismissed by a Minister that had been in office since the 5th of November 2007, (but on formal leave from that position between 11 December 2007 and 23 January 2008) and who had never even met with the Board.  

ACTING OTHER THAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE STATUTORY POWER

140. The Hawke’s Bay District Health Board is a Crown Entity for the purposes of the Crown Entities Act.  The provisions of sections 49 to 58 of the Crown Entities Act apply.  In particular, in terms of accountability for their actions, Board members owe duties to the Minister to perform the collective duties set out in sections 49 to 52 of the Crown Entities Act.

141. It is not stated in any of the correspondence or in any of the affidavits filed by the Respondent that these collective duties under the Crown Entities Act have been breached.

142. Even if a breach was identified (which is denied), there is no suggestion that the Board members knew or could reasonably have been expected to know that any of the collective duties under the Crown Entities Act were being breached.  In this regard, it is notable that at all times the Board was acting on the advice of competent legal counsel from Sainsbury Logan & Williams in respect of the Board’s actions,  on the advice of experienced counsel in respect of the injunctive proceedings (Mary Scholtens QC) and addressing employment issues the Board had with its Chief Executive (Michael Quigg).

143. As a result, even if there were collective duties under the Crown Entities Act that were being breached, and certainly none have been referred to the Board, the Board took all reasonable steps to ensure that it was properly complying with its obligations under both the NZPHDA and Crown Entities Act.

144. In considering the accountability of Boards under section 31(1) of the NZPHDA and section 58 of the Crown Entities Act, the actions the Minister took are subject to the requirements in section 36 to 42 of the Crown Entities Act.
   Section 41 of the Crown Entities Act applies to the process a Minister must take.  In particular, the Minister may act with as little formality or technicality and as much expedition as permitted by the principles of natural justice and a proper consideration of the matter.  

145. The breaches of natural justice have already been referred to.  Those failings are compounded by the requirement for the Minister to have a “proper consideration of the matter”.  

146. In this case, a decision to dismiss a Board has consequences in terms of the Act in that it strikes at the heart of the whole purpose of the NZPHDA, namely to provide a community voice in health matters by providing for elected board members.
 Such a decision also has considerable reputational consequences for the members of the Board who are held in very high regard by the community of Hawke’s Bay.

147. It is submitted that a proper consideration of the matter is not achieved by taking the approach that the Minister took, namely that it was not for him to determine who was right and who was wrong on the issues. Nor is it to give “proper consideration” to adopt the approach adopted by the Respondent, namely that in a situation where it is acknowledged there were tensions between the Board and the Chief Executive, that only the Board could be dismissed as that was the body that was accountable to the Minister, not management.

148. The exercise of a statutory power to dismiss the Board in circumstances where,  rather than giving consideration to the merits of any dispute, an action taken on the basis of who the Minister is able to control does not involve a proper consideration of the matter.  It also opens administrative decision making up to the argument that convenience dictates who is disciplined whether they are the “guilty” party or not.

149. The exercise of the power under section 31 of the NZPHDA required the Respondent to actually make a decision that he was seriously dissatisfied with the performance of the Board.  That requirement involves an adverse finding, a finding essentially of fault against the Board, and can not be satisfied in the manner that it was approached by the Respondent.

150. It is submitted that the Respondent,  in the interests of removing tensions between the Board and the Chief Executive, has effectively taken sides in what was an employment situation between the Board and its Chief Executive with which the Board were dealing.  In doing so the Minister cut across the strong policy behind and rationale for elected Boards that is inherent in the purpose of the NZPHDA.  It matters not whether the Respondent thought his actions were “necessary and appropriate” in the consideration of the governance/management relationship.  The test in section 31 must be applied having regard to the purpose of the NZPHDA.
  

CONCLUSION

151. These proceedings brought by the Councils of Hawke’s Bay demonstrate the serious concerns that the community has about the decision made by the Respondent to dismiss the duly elected members of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  The Respondent’s actions are unreasonable, are in excess of his statutory power, demonstrate bias and pre-determination and breach the principles of natural justice.

152. On all counts, the relief sought in these proceedings, namely an order declaring the Minister’s decision to be invalid and reinstating the elected members of the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board is both warranted and just.

153. Orders are sought accordingly.

_____________________

M B Lawson

Solicitor for Plaintiffs

4th  November 2008
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